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FOREWORD

N this compilation Mr. Roland W. Charles has assembled in a single vol-

ume a most valuable and accurate contribution to the records of World
War II. His foresight and energy in bringing together the contents hereof
are most commendable.

The strategic and tactical requirements of World War II which de-
manded the diversified deployment of United States forces to all parts of
the globe could not have been met nor successfully accomplished without
the vessels described in this book.

To the naval architects and engineers who designed these ships; to
the shipbuilders and yard workers who constructed, converted or repaired
them, I extend the grateful thanks and appreciation of the Transportation
Corps of the Army.

To my predecessor as Chief of the Transportation Corps, Major Gen.
eral Charles P. Gross; to the Maritime Commission; to the U. S. Navy
and all others who formulated and carried out the plans for the greatest
shipping undertaking imposed in the defense of our country I wish to pay
highest tribute to their energy, cooperation and successful accomplish-
ments. They have made history.

To those millions of Americans who shipped overseas, the publication
will serve as a reminder of their experiences and provide a record of the
ship or ships on which they travelled to a most important adventure of their
career.

To those who may be called upon in the future to assume a similar
task, the book should be of inestimable value. I trust no such occasion
lies ahead but to provide against such a contingency it is urgent that our
merchant fleet be maintained at high levels and available.

Major General,
Chief of Transportation.
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PREFACE

HIS book contains authentic photographs and salient facts covering

358 troopships used in World War II. In addition, other vessels of mis-
cellaneous character, including Victory and Liberty type temporary con-
versions for returning troops, are listed in the appendices. The purpose
of the book is threefold:

(1) To form a compact permanent record of certain troopship informa-
tion that is now scattered throughout many files in different offices
and departments '

(2) To assemble for ready reference, essential technical data required
in connection with planning the use of troopships

(3) To make available to those personally interested, a brief story of
any particular ship

The six groups of vessels indicated in the table of contents were arbi-
trarily adopted in an attempt to classify vessels as to ownership or jurisdic-
tion during the War. The index may, however, be used to locate vessels
regardless of the grouping. Effort has been made to include all troopships
that were intended to be regularly dispatched with U. S. troops more than
once from ports of embarkation in the continental United States to over-
seas destinations. Navy attack transports are omitted, as well as those
Liberty ships that were hastily outfitted in the Western Pacific for bringing
troops home, the latter being essentially cargo ships from which the tem-
porary troop accommodations were removed upon arrival in the United
States.

Attention is invited to the fact that the Arabic numerals in parentheses
after the type of propulsion shown, indicate the number of propellers, if
more than one, and not the number of engines of the type listed. All dates
are written in accordance with War Department style; that is, day, month
and year. It is also pointed out that the most typical physical data is given
where the capacity or other feature of a vessel changed during the progress
of the war, as was frequently the case.

In the production of this book valuable assistance has been given by a
great many persons, to whom I hereby convey my sincere appreciation. I
wish particularly to acknowledge the interest shown by the following:

Colonel William H. Clopton, USA (Rtd.), without whose guidance the

publication would not have developed

Colonel Wilbur S. Elliott, Chief, Water Transport Service, OCT, whose

enthusiasm and encouragement launched the project

Colonel Edmund C. R. Lasher, Chief, Commercial Traffic Service, OCT,

whose confidence in the project has been an important factor in its
realization

Miss Regina McQueeney, on whose meticulous research ability 1 was

constantly dependent, and who typed and helped verify the entire
manuscript

It is hoped that the material herein will prove of value to future re-
searchers and that it will be attractive to those who have a sentimental or
practical interest in it now.

W———
Washington, D. C.
22 June 1946



ARMY TROOPSHIPS

AR Department troopships for many years prior to World War II

were under the jurisdiction of The Quartermaster General. At pres-
ent they are operated by the Transportation Corps of the U. S. Army. The
wartime Chief of Transportation was Major General Charles P. Gross, now
Chairman of the Board of Transportation, New York City. The present
Chief of Transportation is Major General Edmond H. Leavey, holder of
many War Department decorations, who was Chief of Staff of the Medi-
terranean Base Section in North Africa before serving in the Pacific where
he personally received from General Yamashita the surrender of the Japa-
nese-held Philippines in 1945. The Assistant Chief of Transportation for
Operations during World War II was Brigadier General Robert H. Wylie.

Major General John M. Franklin, president of United States Lines
Company, served during the period of World War II as Assistant Chief
of Transportation with special duties pertaining to water activities, He
was the recipient of the Distinguished Service Medal for his wartime work.
Colonel Clarence H. Kells (later Major General in command of the Bos-
ton, San Francisco and New York Ports of Embarkation, successively)
was in direct charge of the Water Transport Service, OCT, during the
early part of World War II. In 1942 he was succeeded by Colonel Ray.
mond M. Hicks, now Secretary-Treasurer of United States Lines. Cur-
rently in charge is Colonel Wilbur S. Elliott, who was on General Eisen-
hower’s staff in the European Theatre of Operations.

On Pearl Harbor Day 1941, the officer in charge of the maintenance,
repair and conversion of Army Transports was Colonel Duval C. Watkins
(now retired). The officer at present in charge of this work is Colonel
Werner W. Moore, who served in the Antilles Department, and later be-
came Chief of Transportation, Pacific Ocean Areas, preceding his present
assignment to the Maintenance and Repair Branch. :

In this branch is “the Grand Old Man of the Army Transport Service,”
Mr. George A. Anthony, with service dating back to the Spanish-Ameri.
can War of 1898, when he supervised the alteration of vessels going
to Cuba and the Philippines. Mr. Anthony personally previewed the plans
for troop berthing and messing arrangement on practically all of the ves.
sels referred to in this book. To him goes a large share of the credit for
the success of the troopships of World War II.

Space does not permit mention here by name of the many persons at
ports of embarkation and overseas, whose planning and attention to thou-
sands of details enabled the vessels described in this book to complete
their missions successfully. The teamwork involved must be apparent to
all readers, and, of course, is already known by actual participants, from
the lowliest deckhand to such persons as Colonel Thomas J. Weed (CO at
Le Havre and later in command of the Bremen Enclave, ETO) and Major
General Homer M. Groninger (wartime commander of the two great Ports
of Embarkation of New York and San Francisco, successively). This, how-
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ever, is intended to be a record of the ships, rather than of the personnel
whose job it was to move those ships.

As indicated in the individual histories, Army troopships have come
from varous sources; some are Army-owned while others ate on bareboat
charter, sub-bareboat charter, or loan basis (See Appendix “B,” page 354,
for definitions). All are normally manned by civilian crews, employed
under Civil Service regulations and carried on the rolls at the home ports
of vessels. Some military members of ships’ crews are in an administrative
capacity and are not charged with physical operation of vessels.

Of the 65 large Army operated troopships described herein, eight de-
serve special mention by reason of being veterans of both world wars.
These vessels are:

Name During World War 11 Name During World War I

CHARLES A. STAFFORD and SIBO-

NEY SIBONEY
EDMUND B. ALEXANDER AMERICA
ETOLIN MATSONIA
GEORGE WASHINGTON GEORGE WASHINGTON
H. F. ALEXANDER and GEORGE 8.

SIMONDS GREAT NORTHERN
ORIZABA ORIZABA
REPUBLIC PRESIDENT GRANT
U. S. GRANT MADAWASKA

Few of the Army troopships enumerated in the following pages are
being retained in the Transportation Corps’ peacetime fleet of transports.
Retirement of over-age or surplus vessels with simultaneous acquisition of
modern, larger, high speed ships has already given the War Department
a fleet of troopships totally different from that portrayed in the following
section of this book.




ACADIA

Length, overall ._402’ 11" Gross tons ______. 6,185 Propulsion_Turbines (2)

. 61' 0" Speed (knots) _._. 17 Passengers .. 1,635

Beam ___.____
.22 6" Radius (miles)_ . 8,000 Cargo (cu. ft.) 99,500

Draft __

Built in 1932 by Newport News Shipbuilding & Drydock Co., Newport News, Va.
Operated prior to World War 1I by Eastern Steamship Co.

HE ACADIA was first taken on time charter but later was acquired
on bareboat charter.

She was hastily converted at New York in December 1941 to carry
513 officers and 1,122 troops. She was operated from New Orleans to
Panama, South America and bases in the Caribbean until June 1942, when
she was ordered to Boston fo: conversion (by Bethlehem Steel Co.) to a
“hospital transport” for carrying 630 troops outbound or 630 ambulant
patients and 460 bed patients inbound. Three trips in this capacity were
made from New York to North Africa.

In 1943 the ACADIA was disarmed and converted to a hospital ship
in accordance with The Hague Convention rules. For information concern-
ing her operation as a hospital ship see page 328.

While en route to Manila from Los Angeles, in January 1946, the
ACADIA was decommissioned as a hospital ship, and at Manila all Red
Cross markings, etc., were removed to permit the return of able-bodied
troops to the United States. In February 1946, she was based at San Fran-
cisco due to inactivation of the Los Angeles Port of Embarkation.

The ACADIA was converted by the Marine Repair Shop at Fort Mason
for carrying 330 passengers and dependents outbound (to Pacific stations)
or 700 troops inbound. This work was accomplished between 22 March
and 2 May 1946.




ACONCAGUA

Length, overall . 440" 6" Gross tons ... 7,279 Propulsion __ Diesel
Beam ... 58 0" Speed (knots) ___ 15 Passengers .. 1,609
Draft . 24 0" Radius (miles)__. 15,950 Cargo (cu. ft.)__. 52,850

Built in 1938 by Nakskov Skibs A/S, Nakskov, Denmark

Operated prior to World War Il by Compania Sud Americana dek'Vapores,
Valparaiso, Chile.

HE ACONCAGUA was one of three similar type vessels offered by

Chile in 1943 as part of her contribution to the war effort. These
vessels were purchased by the War Shipping Administration and imme-
diately bareboat chartered to the War Department,

Conversion of the ACONCAGUA to a troopship was accomplished
from August 1943 to February 1944 at Bethlehem-Key Highway Plant,
Baltimore, Md., whereupon the vessel was ordered to the West Coast for
service—to be based at San Francisco.

In July 1944 the vessel was assigned to Seattle. She left Seattle on 11
July 1944 for local duty in the Southwest Pacific and returned to San
Francisco in November, going from there to Seattle, where extensive re-
pairs and some alterations took place at Todd Shipyards, Inc.

Between April and November 1945 the ACONCAGUA made three
trips between Seattle and Honolulu, returning to Los Angeles in late
November. Tentative assighment of the vessel to Los Angeles was made
in January 1946, but as no further need existed for the vessel in the
Pacific she was almost immediately ordered to sail in ballast for New York
for redelivery to the War Shipping Administration.

Due to change in plans for contemplated chartering of the vessel at
New York, the ACONCAGUA was taken to Hampton Roads, Va., and
there turned over to the WSA in April 1946 for placing in the laid-up
fleet on the James River,



AGWILEON

Length, overall 429" 10” Gross tons ... 6,678 Propulsion_Recip.eng.(2)
Beam ... . 50" 0" Speed (knots) ... 14 Passengers . 1,350
Draft . 23 11" Radius (miles) . 4,900 Cargo (cu. ft.)_...146,360

Built in 1907 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.

Reconstructed in 1928 by Todd Drydock, Inc., Seattle, Washington
Former names: COMFORT, HAVANA, YUCATAN

Operated prior to World War II by Atlantic, Gulf & West Indies Steamship Lines

HE AGWILEON was first assigned a mission for the Army in April

1942, when she was bareboat chartered by the Maritime Commission
and used to transport civilian technicians and advisors to Freetown, Sierra
Leone. The ship was delayed there a short while because of boiler trouble,
then went to Capetown, Brazil, Trinidad, and Cuba, arriving at New York
in October.

The AGWILEON was bareboat chartered by the Army in November
1942 and underwent conversion to a troopship by Atlantic Basin Iron
Works between November 1942 and April 1943. In late April she left
for Oran and Gibraltar.

Following return to her home port in June, steps were taken to convert
the vessel to a hospital ship. This work was accomplished by Atlantic
Basin Iron Works, and the ship was renamed “SHAMROCK?” in accord-
ance with the then existing policy of the Surgeon General’s Office to have
hospital ships named after flowers. A résumé of the vessel’s service as a
mercy ship is given on page 349.

The vessel was decommissioned as a hospital at Los Angeles in No-
vember 1945 and consideration was given to her possible use as a troop-
ship or for carrying military dependents. However, this was not found
justifiable, and she was accordingly redelivered to the War Shipping Ad-
ministration at San Francisco in February 1946,



ALGONQUIN

Length, overall 402" 2" Gross tons _.______ 5,945 Propulsion .. _Turbine
(1 Speed (knots) ___ 15 Passengers __ . 1,373
7" Radius (miles)... 4,000 Cargo (cu. ft.).... 63,110

Built in 1926 by Newport News Shipbuilding & Drydock Co., Newport News, Va.
Operated prior to World War Il by Agwilines, Inc.

HE ALGONQUIN was first taken on time charter on 2 January 1942

at New Orleans. She made one voyage to Panama in January 1942
and then began service as a troopship between New Orleans and various
ports of the West Indies. She made many trips to the following: Jamaica,
San Juan, Trinidad, Panama, Belize, Guantanamo, and Aruba. Status was
changed to sub-bareboat charter in August 1942,

The ALGONQUIN remained in service in this same area until July
1943, at which time she was ordered to Mobile for conversion to a hospital

ship at the yard of Alabama Drydock Co.
For a transcript of the services of the ALGONQUIN from the time

of its designation as a hospital ship until decommissioning, see page 330.

Following termination of duty as a hospital ship in December 1945,
the vessel was altered for carrying 294 military dependents, in which
category she was once more referred to as a transport. Upon completion
of the alteration work by Bethlehem’s 56th Street yard in January 1946,
the ALGONQUIN was placed in service between New York and Naples.
As of late April 1946 she had made two round trips to Naples and one to
Bermuda.



AMERICAN LEGION

Length, overall 535" 0" Gross tons . 13,736 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
Beam 72" 0" Speed (knots) .. 17 Passengers .. 1,644
Draft 300 7" Radius (miles).... 10,040 Cargo (cu. ft.)...115,200

Built in 1921 by New York Shipbuilding Corp., Camden, N. I.
In laid-up status prior to World War II

HE AMERICAN LEGION was taken from the Patuxent River laid-up
fleet in November 1939 and towed to New York for rehabilitation and

conversion to a troopship by Bethlehem Steel Co. and Atlantic Basin Iron
Works.

Upon completion, she left New York early in February 1940 for
Panama, making five round trips (with stops at Charleston and San Juan)
before being selected for a special trip to Petsamo, Finland, in August
1940. The route followed across the Atlantic, around Norway to Petsamo
and return to New York was agreed upon between the U, S. State Depart-
ment and Germany. The most distinguished of the returning 900 pas-
sengers was Crown Princess Martha of Norway.

Upon return from Petsamo, the AMERICAN LEGION resumed regu-
lar service between New York and Panama until April 1941. From then,
until late August, she was operated from New York to Bermuda and
Trinidad. In August 1941 the ship made a secret trip to Iceland with the
first contingent of American troops to defend that island.

On 22 August 1941, the vessel was transferred to the Navy at New
York and was then called the *USS AMERICAN LEGION” (AP 35).
During the next several months the LEGION made trips to the various
bases in nearby British possessions.

In April 1942 the vessel left New York for New Zealand and Aus-
tralia, via the Panama Canal. After a few months local operation in the
Southwest Pacific, she returned to New York in March 1943. After an-
other similar trip to Australia, she returned to San Francisco in December
1943,

The ship was next converted to an “attack transport” (APA 17) at
United Engineering Works, Alameda, Calif. Following completion of this
work in April 1944, she made numerous cruises as a unit of “*Amphibious-
Force-Pacific” until after V-J Day.

The AMERICAN LEGION arrived at San Francisco in December
1945 and after redelivery to the Army, was turned over to the War Ship-
ping Administration at Olympia, Washington, in March 1946 as surplus.
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ANCON

Length, overall ..493" 6" Gross tons ... 10,021 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
- .64 0" Speed (knots) .. 17V Passengers ... 2,087
. 26" 3" Radius (miles)__. 9,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)__.160,104

Built in 1939 by Bethlehem Steel Co., Quincy, Mass.
Operated prior to World War Il by Panama Railroad Co.

HE ANCON was received from the Panama Railroad Company on 11
January 1942, in the Canal Zone.

From Balboa the ANCON sailed to San Francisco, where she was
hastily converted for troop use (including over 1,500 metal standee type
bunks). This wotk was done by the Bethlehem Steel Co. The ship left
San Francisco on 31 January 1942 and made a quick trip to Australia
and return.

After voyage repairs and minor alterations the ANCON again left
San Francisco and went to Australia, returning in late March., After still
another such trip, from which she returned in late May, she underwent
drydocking with major repairs and alterations in June and July 1942 by
Moore Dry Dock Co. at San Francisco.

The ANCON next sailed, via the Panama Canal, to Boston, where she
was turned over to the Navy in late July 1942. From Boston she departed
under the designation *USS ANCON” (AP 66) for Iceland, United King-
dom, African ports, and Norfolk before returning to New York in De-
cember 1942.

During 1943, 1944 and 1945 the USS ANCON was in active Navy
service as an “Auxiliary Amphibious Force Flagship” (AGC 4).

Upon return to New York n January 1946 the ANCON was scheduled
to be redelivered to the Army. She was, however, delivered directly to
representatives of the Panama Railroad Company on 25 February 1946.



BELLE ISLE

Length, overall...256" 0" Gross tons ... 1,960 Propulsion____Recip. eng.
Beam .. ... 37" 6" Speed (knots) . 9 Passengers ... 163
Draft ... 15" 4”7 Radius (miles) . 5,335 Cargo (cu. ft.).... 89,681

Built in 1932 by Swan, Hunter & Wigham Richardson, Newcastle, England
In operation prior to World War II by Newfoundland Canada Steamships, Ltd.

HE BELLE ISLE was formerly of Canadian registry. She was pur-
chased at Halifax by the Maritime Commission and bareboat chartered
to the War Department 3 September 1942.

The vessel left Halifax in September and went, via Sydney (Nova
Scotia) to the following and other ports in Greenland: Kungnait Bay,
Skjoldungen, Torgilsbu and Narsarssuak. She returned, via St. John’s
(Nfld.) and Halifax, to Boston in January 1943.

After major voyage repairs and alterations the BELLE ISLE sailed in
April for Argentia and Halifax. On her next trip from Boston, which
began in May 1943, she voyaged to Fort Chimo (Quebec), Churchill, Fro-
bisher Bay, Padloping Island and Southampton—all in Canadian subarctic
areas.

Returning to Boston in December, the ship underwent extensive voyage
repairs by the Bethlehem Steel Co. before going to New York. In mid-
January 1944 she sailed from there to Guantanamo, Trinidad, San Juan,
Aruba, Curacao, Key West and Havana, and returned to Boston in May.

The vessel left Boston on 1 June 1944 for Sydney (N.S.), St. John’s,
Narsarssuak and Ivigtut, Greenland, and Reykjavik, Iceland. This service
was continued until late November 1945, with periodical visits to Boston.

In January 1946 the BELLE ISLE transferred from Boston to New
York, where she was redelivered to the War Shipping Administration on

29 January 1946. The vessel was, however, again taken for Army service
in April 1946.




BORINQUEN

Length, overall 429" (0" Gross tons ... 7,114 Propulsion ______. _Turbine

Beam oo 59" 6" Speed (knots) ____ 16 Passengers 1,289
Draft . 24" 8" Radius (miles)__. 7,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)..__ 35,700

Built in 1931 by Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp., Quincy, Mass.
Operated prior to World War 1I by Agwilines, Inc.

THE BORINQUEN was allocated to the War Department in January
1942 for transporting Corps of Engineers personnel to various destina-
tions for constructing overseas bases.

She first made a trip to Iceland in February and in April 1942 left on
a longer voyage that took her to Iceland, England and Africa (Durban,
Capetown and Freetown). She returned to New York in August, but soon
left for a voyage to England, Oran and Casablanca from which she re-
turned to New Yotk in December 1942,

In January 1943 the BORINQUEN began a series of sailings between
New York and Oran, returning from the last in August 1943, In Sep-
tember she began another series of voyages from New York and Boston
to Belfast, returning home from the last such trip in April 1944.

In May 1944 the BORINQUEN was bareboat chartered to the Trans-
portation Corps for use as a troopship. After several trips to Belfast, she
was locally operated between Southampton and Le Havre from January
to August 1945. Following this duty she went to Leghorn and Marseilles
before returning to New York. The ship next made three trips from New
York to Marseilles and one to Le Havre, returning finally to New York
in late January 1946. '

In February 1946, the BORINQUEN was redelivered to the War Ship-
ping Administration at New York as surplus to the needs of the Army.
She was simultaneously redelivered by WSA to the owners, Agwilines, Inc.
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BRIDGEPORT

Length, overall 447" 0" Gross tons . 7,995 Profulsion,,Recip.eng.( 2)

. 54 4" Speed (knots) __.. 10 Passengers ... 352
.. 29" 0" Radius (miles)... 8,000 Cargo ...

Beam

Built in 1901 by Bremer Vulcan, Vegesack, Germany
Former names: BRESLAU, LARKSPUR
In operation prior to World War Il by Navy Department

HIS was the former German vessel BRESLAU, which was seized in

1917 and subsequently used by the U. S. Navy, first as a repair ship
and then as a destroyer tender, being renamed the USS BRIDGEPORT.
Upon the advent of World War II she was released to the War Shipping
Administration, under whom she was altered and used for a short while as
a freighter.

In 1943 the BRIDGEPORT was inspected and found suitable for con-
version to a hospital ship. Accordingly, she was converted to a Hague
Convention hospital ship, between September 1943 and August 1944, by
the Merrill-Stevens Drydock & Repair Co. at Jacksonville, Fla., and was
renamed the LARKSPUR,

For a description of the vessel as a hospital ship and detailed sailings,
see page 342.

The ship was decommissioned as a hospital ship in January 1946 at
New York. She resumed her previous name, BRIDGEPORT, and was
altered by Todd’s Hoboken yard for carrying military dependents (352
adults, 182 children) from England to the United States. By late April
1946 the ship had made three trips in this service and was then expected
to remain in the same run for a few months longer.
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CHATEAU THIERRY

Length, overall ._ 448 0" Gross tons . 7,555 Propulsion Turbine
Beam ___ (144 Speed (knots) ___ 16 Passengers .. 915
Draft . 6" Radius (miles)__. 7,300 Cargo (cu. ft.)__. 56,000

Built in 1920 by American International Shipbuilding Corp., Hog Island, Pa.
In operation by the War Department prior to World War II.

HE CHATEAU THIERRY was one of twelve similar vessels con-

structed by the same builder. It was delivered to the War Department
in early 1921 and has been in continuous operation for the Army ever
since. Although the ship had made 140 voyages in her 20 years of coast-
to-coast service preceding the Jap attack on Pearl Harbor, none of her
service prior to World War II is included herein.

In 1939 the CHATEAU THIERRY was about to be laid up by reason
of the addition of newer vessels to the War Department fleet of transports,
but imminent hostilities in Europe precluded disposing of her. She was
not only restored to service, but the passenger capacity was augmented to
approximately 1,150, the work being done by Bethlehem Steel Co. at New
York between October 1939 and January 1940.

The vessel made many voyages to Panama and return (with one side
trip to Honolulu in June 1940) before being turned over to the Navy in
August 1941. For the remainder of 1941 she operated out of New York
to Greenland and Iceland as the “USS CHATEAU THIERRY.” In this
capacity she made a trip to Ireland in January 1942, and for several
months following return to New York was operated chiefly to and from
Newfoundland with stops at Halifax.

In May 1942 the vessel sailed to Freetown, Sierra Leone and Cape-
town, South Africa, returning to New York in September. For the next
several months she made voyages to Newfoundland, Iceland and Nova
Scotia, basing at both Boston and New York. She returned to Boston in
April 1943 and was briefly operated with the Eighth Fleet.

In July 1943 the CHATEAU THIERRY was returned to the War
Department at New York and plans were immediately evolved for her
conversion to a hospital ship. For details of this service, see page 333.
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CHIRIKOF

Length, overall 437" 0" Gross tons 6,509 Propulsion . Recip. eng.
Beam 53" 0" Speed (knots) ... 11 Passengers .. 1,290
Draft 25" 6" Radius (miles)__. 10,600 Cargo (cu. ft.).. 218,079

Built in 1908 by Newport News Shipbuilding Co., Newport News, Va.
Former name: LURLINE

In operation prior to World War 11 by Alaska Packers Association, Inc.

HE CHIRIKOF was first bareboat chartered directly from the owners
in July 1940, and was operated from Seattle to Alaskan ports, in-
cluding Adak.

In April 1941 the vessel was redelivered to the owners, but in Septem-
ber of that year was rechartered. In June 1942 the ship was transferred to
sub-bareboat charter from the War Shipping Administration. She con-
tinued in Alaskan service from Seattle after making one trip to Honolulu
(via Alaska) in September 1942.

The CHIRIKOF was in service to Alaska (including the Bering Sea)
throughout the war. Various modifications to the vessel were effected
from time to time, such as inclosing bridge, installing heavy lift gear and
expanding troop capacity.

Shortly after returning from her last voyage for the Army in January
1946 the CHIRIKOF was redelivered to the War Shipping Administra-
tion at Seattle on 6 February 1946, and on the same date was trans-
ferred to the Alaska Packers Association.
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CLEVEDON

Length, overall 430" 8" Gross tons ... 7,314 Propulsion ... Diesel
Beam ... ... 55" 57 Speed (knots) 11 Passengers ... 502
Draft ... 27" 37 Radius (miles)_ ... 20,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)...400,777

Built in 1927 by Stabilmento Tecnico, Trieste, Italy
Former name: FELTRE
Operated prior to World War II by Pacific American Fisheries, Inc.

HE CLEVEDON experienced a very brief career in World War II.

She made one trip for the Army on a commercial basis from Seattle on
20 August to Seward, Alaska, and return. On 25 September 1941 she was
bareboat chartered by the War Department.

The CLEVEDON sailed from Seattle on 2 October, via San Francisco,
for Honolulu, arriving at the Hawaiian port on the 18th. She returned to
Seattle on 1 November and on the 14th departed for Seward, Dutch
Harbor and Kodiak. Return to Seattle was on 12 December.

The vessel’s next outbound voyage, begun at Seattle on 3 January
1942, took her via Annette Island to Yakutat. While unloading cargo at
the Army dock at Yakutat, a fire broke out in the engine-room of the ship.
After the fire spread beyond control, the CLEVEDON was towed from
the dock to prevent further damage, and on 11 January 1942 sank about
one mile offshore, with no casualties.
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COPIAPO

Length, overall 440" 6” Gross tons ... 7,279 Propulsion ... Diesel
Beam ... 58 o Speed (knots) . 15V Passengers 1,660
Draft . 23 8" Radius (miles).... 18,284 Cargo (cu. ft.).... 94,256

Built in 1937 by Nakskov Skibs A/S, Nakskov, Denmark.

Ovperated prior to World War II by Compania Sud Americana de Vapores,
Valparaiso, Chile.

HE COPIAPO was one of the three ships accepted from Chile by the

War Shipping Administration to help in the war effort.

The vessel sailed from New Orleans in May 1943 under the auspices
of the WSA, on a trip to Key West, Guantanamo, Panama, Callao, Val.
paraiso, etc., before returning to Baltimore where she was taken by the
Army on bareboat charter in August 1943,

Conversion to a troopship was done between August 1943 and March
1944 at the Key Highway Plant of the Bethlehem Steel Co., Baltimore, Md.-
After conversion, the COPIAPO went to New York and then to New
Orleans. She left the latter port in late April 1944, going to Trinidad,
Recife, San Juan, and other Caribbean stations before returning to Norfolk
and Baltimore in August 1944.

The vessel underwent minor repairs at New Orleans before leaving in
late August for Finschhafen (via the Panama Canl). En route, however,
she was diverted to Tulagi, arriving there in late September 1944. She
was operated locally (Guadalcanal, Hollandia, Oro Bay, Milne  Bay,
Leyte, etc.) until May 1945, when she was ordered to Seattle via Honolulu.

Arriving at Seattle in June 1945, after neatly ten months in the south.
west Pacific, the vessel underwent major repairs and some alteration—which
took nearly 90 days. After repairs, the COPIAPO left Seattle in October
1945 for Yokohama and Nagoya, departing from the latter in late Novem-
ber. After arrival at Seattle in December 1945, she made a trip to Hono-
lulu, but returned to San Francisco.

This vessel sailed in ballast from San Francisco to New York, via the
Panama Canal. She arrived on 9 February and was released to the War
Shipping Administration on 7 March 1946 and on the same date was de-
livered by the WSA to the Alcoa Steamship Co., Inc.
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CRISTOBAL

Length, overall . 493 6" Gross tons ... 10,021 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
Beam _ 64 0" Speed (knots) ... 17 Passengers _______ 1,768
Draft __. . 26" 37 Radius (miles)__. 8,975 Cargo (cu. ft.)__. 42,900

Built in 1939 by Bethlehem Steel Co., Quincy, Mass.
Operated prior to World War 1l by Panama Railroad Co.

HORTLY after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the Secretary of
War directed the Panama Railroad Co. (a War Department “subsid-
iary”) to turn over the CRISTOBAL to The Quartermaster General “for
use in the national emergency because of its suitability for Army service.”

In January 1942 minor alterations were made at the yards of Atlantic
Basin Iron Works and Bethlehem Steel Co. in New York. The vessel
was at ofice put into service, making a trip to Australia via the Panama
Canal. She returned to New York in April 1942, where more extensive
alterations were effected at Atlantic Basin Iron Works. This was followed
by a voyage to Ireland and operation for a short time under jurisdiction

of the British.

In late 1942 still more improvements were made (by Bethlehem Steel
Co.) at New York, such as installing a larger evaporator and additional
ventilation.

The CRISTOBAL made numerous trips from New York to the United
Kingdom before being transferred to the Hampton Roads Port of Em-
barkation in June 1944, She was later operated between the Boston Port
of Embarkation and the European Theatre of Operations.

In January 1946 the CRISTOBAL was altered at Newport News Ship-
building & Drydock Co. for carrying 119 watr brides and 101 dependent
children from Europe to the United States. She remained in this service
until redelivery to the Panama Railroad Company on 14 June 1946 at
New York,
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CUBA

Length, overall 341" 2" Gross tons . 2,473 Propulsion Recip.eng.(2)
Beam __ . 477 0" Speed (knots) __. 15 Passengers ... 596
Draft _._. L1707 Radius (miles) ... 3,500 Cargo (cu. ft.)... 32,015

Built in 1921 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.
Operated prior to World War Il by Peninsular & Occidental Steamship Co.

HE CUBA was taken by the War Department in February 1942 and

prepared for transporting troops in the Caribbean. Alterations con-
sisted chiefly of increasing passenger capacity and providing adequate
ventilating equipment,

Following hasty conversion, the CUBA began operations between New
Orleans, Panama, Trinidad, Cuba, British Guiana, Puerto Rico, and other
ports in the West Indies. She continued in this “home port and inter-island
service” throughout the war, being interrupted only as indicated below.

The vessel was drydocked in Panama in September 1942 on account of
a bent propeller. In November 1942 the CUBA was sent to New York
for general repairs. Leaving there in February 1943, she went to Norfolk
from where a voyage was made to Bermuda. Following return to Norfolk,
the vessel resumed duty in the Caribbean, on which she has continued to
date.

For a considerable length of time the CUBA was assigned to the
Panama Canal for local operation, but on 1 January 1946 New Orleans
became her home port. She is expected to remain in Army service until
the summer of 1946.
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DAVID C. SHANKS

Length, overall . 489" 0" Gross tons . 12,097 Propulsion .. Turbine
Beam . 69 6”7 Speed (knots) ... 16V Passengers .. 1,935
Draft .. 27" 47 Radius (miles) ... 16,700 Cargo (cu. ft.) 153,252

Built in 1943 by Ingalls Shipbuilding Corp., Pascagoula, Miss.
Originally assigned the name “GULFPORT” but never operated under this name.

HE DAVID C. SHANKS was one of four similar C.3 type vessels con-

structed on Maritime Commission contract for the War Department.
The vessel was named in honor of Major General David Carey Shanks,
who was Commanding General of the Port of Hoboken during World War
I and who also commanded the 16th Division.

The SHANKS was accepted by the Army on 24 April 1943 at Pasca-
goula, Miss. After a short stay at New Orleans, she made a trip to Ja-
maica and return.

The vessel left New Orlens in June 1943 and sailed for San Francisco,
via the Panama Canal. She made one trip to Honolulu from San Francisco
before leaving in July for Brisbane, Australia, and Milne Bay, New Guinea.

The SHANKS returned to San Francisco in September 1943 and was
operated from there until June 1945 in the same service as before, having
made calls at Auckland, Oro Bay, Noumea, Biak, etc. During periods in
port (at San Francisco) miscellaneous alterations, such as improved venti-
lation, revised armament, etc., were accomplished.

The DAVID C. SHANKS left San Francisco in July 1945 and went,
via the Panama Canal, to Leghorn, Italy. She returned in August to
Hampton Roads, from which port she made two trips to Marseilles, France,
and Gibraltar. The last of these trips ended at New York in December
1945. The vessel left New York that month and made a voyage to Leyte
Island, P. L., returning to San Francisco on 1 February 1946. She was
there altered slightly for use as a combination vessel for carrying 430
dependents and 678 troops. From San Francisco she made a voyage to
Honolulu, Auckland, and Sydney and as of June 1946 is still based at
San Francisco.
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DAVID W. BRANCH

Length, overall ..395" 0" Gross tons ... 5,544 Propulsion_ . Recip. eng.
6” Speed (knots) __. 12 Passengers ________. 1,050
9" Radius (miles).__. 9,660 Cargo (cu. ft.).... 96,594

Built in 1915 by “DeSchelde” Koninklijke, Maalschappij, Flushing, Holland
Former names: ECUADOR, SANTA OLIVIA
Operated prior to World War II by Libby, McNeill & Libby

HE DAVID W. BRANCH was bareboat chartered from the owners
in September 1941 and immediately placed in regular service between
Seattle and Alaskan ports.

After several trips had been made by the vessel, our entry into World
War II made it necessary to increase the troop lift to Alaska. Work of
altering the BRANCH was done by Todd Shipyards at Seattle.

Following conversion, the vessel resumed operation between Seattle and
Alaska, and in July 1942 was placed on sub-bareboat charter from the
War Shipping Administration. In late 1942 and early 1943 the BRANCH
saw duty on a four months tactical mission in Alaskan waters, from which
she returned to her home port for drydocking and extensive repairs.

The vessel went from Seattle to San Francisco and return before going
on another mission of three months duration in Alaskan waters and the
Hawaiian Islands. She returned to Seattle in October 1943 for repairs
and minor alterations.

The DAVID W. BRANCH remained in Seattle-Alaskan service
throughout the war, having made approximately thirty voyages from Seat-
tle. Principal Alaskan ports visited were Dutch Harbor, Cold Bay, Nome,
Seward and Yakutat. During her service with the Army the BRANCH

suffered minor damage from grounding and collision on several occasions.

The vessel was redelivered to the War Shipping Administration on 8
March 1946 at Seattle, and on the same date transferred by the WSA to
Alaska Packers Association.
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EDMUND B. ALEXANDER

Length, overall ._687" 0" Gross tons . 21,329 Propulsion_Recip.eng.(2)
Beam .. ... 74’ 0" Speed (knots) ____ 17 Passengers ... 5,159
Drafe 33" 5”7 Radius (miles)_ ... 22,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)__ 151,685

Built in 1905 by Harland & Wolff at Belfast, Ireland
Former names: AMERIKA, AMERICA

HIS vessel (then called AMERIKA) was originally built as a pas-

senger liner for Hamburg-Amerika Line and was operated in the
North Atlantic until the outbreak of World War I. She was interned at
Boston in August 1914 and seized in April 1917. As the converted troop-
ship AMERICA, she carried thousands of troops to and from France
during that war.

Following World War I, she was laid up a few years before being re-
conditioned in 1923-24 by the U. S. Shipping Board. She entered the
trans-Atlantic passenger trade under the house flag of United States Lines.
After several years of operation, she was laid up at Solomon’s Island,
Maryland.

She was taken from the laid-up fleet in October 1940 for Army use.
After being towed to Baltimore she was there rehabilitated by the Bethle-
hem Steel Co. for use as a floating barracks for 1,200 troops in New-
foundland until permanent shore quarters were constructed. At this time
she was renamed the EDMUND B. ALEXANDER. She was still a coal-
burner, operated at only 10 knots. She left New York in January 1941,
being escorted to St. Johns by the Coast Guard Cutter “Duane,” and
remained there until June 1941, when she returned to New York under
escort.

After extensive repairs at Atlantic Basin Iron Works she was operated
for a short period between New Orleans and Panama. In May 1942 the
EDMUND B. ALEXANDER was ordered to Baltimore for major altera-
tions and reboilering (including conversion to oil fuel). Upon completion
of this work by the Bethlehem Steel Co., in April 1943, with speed in.
creased to 17 knots and carrying over 5,000 troops, she began regular
operation from New York to the European and Mediterranean Theatres
of Operation. She was in this service throughout World War II. In
February and March 1946 she was altered to carry military dependents
(904 adults, 314 children) from Europe to the United States, and is still
in this service.
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ERNEST HINDS

Length, overall 373" 6" Gross tons ... 5,341 Propulsion____Recip. eng.
Beam 6" Speed (knots) __. 12 Passengers . 751
8” Radius (miles)__ 10,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)... 49,716

Built in 1918 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.
Former names: SANTA TERESA, KENT
Operated prior to World War 11 by Merchants & Miners Transportation Co.

THIS vessel was purchased by the Army in April 1941, Her name was
changed to ERNEST HINDS in honor of Major General Ernest
Hinds, who was Chief of Artillery, AEF, in World War I.

The HINDS was converted to a troopship by the Bethlehem Steel Co.,
at Boston and left at once for maneuvers near Cape Cod. Following this
she was taken by the Navy at New York in July 1941 and made several
trips or diversions to Panama, Guatemala, New Orleans, Charleston, and
Bermuda before being returned to the Army at New York in March 1942,

The HINDS then went to Bermuda and from there to San Francisco,
via New Orleans, Panama, Galapagos Islands, and Central Ameri-
can ports. She arrived in May 1942 and made one trip to Alaska before
going to Honolulu, Vila, New Hebrides and Noumea. After return to
San Francisco two trips were made to Honolulu, and from that port she
left in November for Noumea, Guadalcanal, and Espiritu Santo. En
route to the latter on 17 December 1942, she was pursued by a submarine
and grounded on a coral reef in Lengo Channel off Guadalcanal. There
were no casualties and only slight damage to the ship.

After touching at Suva, the HINDS returned to Honolulu in January
1943 and made several trips to San Francisco before leaving in June for
Australia and Bora Bora. Upon return to San Francisco in September
1943 she was selected for conversion to a hospital ship. For a record of
her operation in this service, see page 336.

After decommissioning as a hospital ship in September 1945, the
ERNEST HINDS was altered and placed at the disposal of the War
Shipping Administration for transporting Jamaican laborers between Port
Everglades and Kingston. Upon completion of this assignment the vessel
went (via Los Angeles) to Seattle. Plans were under way in April 1946 for
her loan to the U. S. Public Health Service.
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ETOLIN

Length, overall...501" 4" Gross tons ... 9,476 Propulsion..... Recip. eng.

Beam ... .. 58 o” Speed (knots) .. 13% Passengers _____ . 1,577

Draft . 0" Radius (miles) . 8,260 Cargo (cu. ft.) 234,350

Built in 1913 by Newport News Shipbuilding & Drydock Co., Newport News, Va.
Former name: MATSONIA
Operated prior to World War 11 by Alaska Packers Association

HE ETOLIN was chartered in August 1940 at San Francisco for two

voyages but in view of the war situation was continued in Army setrvice
almost continuously until redelivered to the War Shipping Administration
in 1946. Her first two trips were to Alaska. These were followed by two
trips to Manila and one to Honolulu from which she last returned to San
Francisco in April 1941.

Between August 1941 and January 1942, the ETOLIN made five voy-
ages between San Francisco and Honolulu. From her home port in Feb-
ruary 1942, she headed for Panama, Ecuador, Peru, Chile and Colombia,
returning to San Francisco in April. Following this she made four voy-
ages from San Francisco to Honolulu. From a fifth such voyage she re-
turned to Los Angeles. In October 1942 the ship went to the East Coast,
touching at San Diego, Cristobal, Cuba and New York. At Baltimore,
Md., she underwent major repairs and alterations, including reboilering,
changes in berthing, new heating and ventilation, new deck winches, gyro
compass, etc.). This prolonged overhaul completed by Bethlehem Steel
Co. in July 1943, the ETOLIN went to New York, from where she sailed
to San Francisco, arriving in late August.

Based at San Francisco, the ETOLIN made three voyages to the South-
west Pacific, stopping at such ports as Brisbane, Townsville, Gladstone, and
Port Moresby. She returned to San Francisco from the last of these trips
in August 1944, After minimum repairs there she made one more trip to
Honolulu before being laid up for major repairs by the Marine Repair
Shop at San Francisco.

In August 1945 the ETOLIN left San Francisco and went (via Seattle
and Honolulu) to Japan, Cebu, Saipan and Iwo Jima. She returned to
San Francisco in October 1945 and soon left for a voyage to Honolulu and
Okinawa. Returning to Seattle in January 1946 she next left for New
Otleans, La., where she arrived on 19 February 1946. From there the ship
made two trips to Panama. Redelivery to the War Shipping Administra-
tion was at Lee Hall, Va. (James River Reserve Fleet), on 28 April 1946,
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EVANGELINE

Length, overall _378 0" Gross tons ... 5,043 Propulsion -Turbines (2)

Beam 55 77 Speed (knots) . 162 Passengers _________ 1,301

9" Radius (miles)__.. 9,000 Cargo (cu. ft.).... 4,540

Built in 1927 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.
Operated prior to World War Il by Eastern Steamship Co.

PON asrival f;'om Bermuda, the EVAINGELINE was delivered to the
War Depattinent at New Orleans 6 January 1942 on time charter.
On 1 August 1942 she was taken on bareboat charter at Galveston, Texas.-

During the first half of 1942 she voyaged from New Orleans to the
following: Curagao, San Juan, Trinidad, Jamaica, Haiti, and Panama.

Repair and conversion took place in September and October 1942 by
Todd Shipyards at Galveston. Arriving at New York in late November,
she soon left for Oran, Casablanca, Algiets, Bizerte, and other North
African ports.

Following return to New York in August 1943, the EVANGELINE
made a trip to the United Kingdom before leaving New York in January
1944 for the Southwest Pacific (via New Otleans and the Panama Canal).
After calling at Bora Bora, Milne Bay and Noumea, she went to Honolulu
for repairs. Arriving at San Francisco in April for extensive repairs,
the ship left in late June for Seattle. From there she went (via Honolulu)
to Espiritu Santo, Milne Bay, Oro Bay, Finschhafen, Townsville, Brisbane,
etc., before returning to Honolulu on Christmas Day, 1944.

Upon arrival at San Francisco in January 1945 she was placed under
Navy jurisdiction until April. .On 20 April 1945, again in operation by
the Army, the EVANGELINE sailed for Honolulu and the Southwest
Pacific. :

The ship returned to Los Angeles in December and left (in ballast)
in January 1946 for Boston, via the Panama Canal. She arrived at Boston
on 7 February 1946 and was redelivered to the War Shipping Adminis-
tration on 19 February 1946 and was transferred to Eastern Steamship
Lines, Inc., on the same date.
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EXCELSIOR

Length, overall 473" 1" Gross tons
Beam ___ Speed (knots) }
Draft . Radius (miles) . 17,100 Cargo (cu. ft)*...111 179

Built in 1943 by Bethlehem-Sparrows Point Shipyard, Inc., Sparrows Point, Md.

PON completion at the building yard the EXCELSIOR was trans-
ferred to the War Department.

She went to New York where outfitting the vessel for Army use was
accomplished by Atlantic Basin Iron Works between 25 August and 15
November 1943. Upon completion of necessary work the vessel made a
quick trip to Belfast, Ireland and return in December 1943,

In January 1944 the EXCELSIOR was based at Boston, from which
port she made many trips to United Kingdom throughout the war, being
occasionally diverted to Hampton Roads and New York.

There being no further need for the vessel by the Army, the EXCEL.-
SIOR was ordered to Hampton Roads in late December 1945, There she
was redelivered to the War Shipping Administration on 8 February 1946,
and on the same date transferred by the WSA to -American Export Lines,
Inc.
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Length, overall 387" 8"  Gross tons ... 4,923 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
Beam . . 56 6”7  Speed (knots) ... 17 Passengers _________ 958
Draft . 20" 1”7  Radius (miles) . 2,900 Cargo (cu. ft.)._. 14,800

Built in 1931 by Newport News Shipbuilding & Drydock Co., Newport News, Va.
Operated prior to World War Il by Peninsular & Occidental Steamship Co., Inc.

HE FLORIDA was first taken on time charter in January 1942, She
was given an emergency conversion and proceeded at once to operate
from New Orleans to Aruba, Panama, Jamaica, Puerto Rico and Trinidad.
Permanent conversion was accomplished between voyages on a piecemeal
basis. L iEE
Placed on bareboat charter in August 1942, the FLORIDA remained in
Caribbean service throughout the war. In addition to calling at most of

the ports enumerated above, she also visited Guantanamo, Cuba, and
Recife and Natal, Brazil.

The vessel underwent major repairs by Todd-Johnson Dry Docks,
Inc., at New Orleans in July 1943 and again at the yard of the Gulf En-
gineering Co. at New Orleans during May and June 1945.

The FLORIDA was returned to the War Shipping Administration on
13 March 1946 at New Otrleans and in turn was delivered to the owners on
the same date.
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FRED C. AINSWORTH

Length, overall 489" 0" Gross oS .. 12,093 Propulsion
Beart oo 69’ 6" Speed (knots) .. 16Y, Passengers __
Draft 27" 47 Radius (miles) . 14,652 Cargo (cu. ft.)...104,300

Built in 1943 by Ingalls Shipbuilding Corp., Pascagoula, Miss.

Originally assigned the name “PASS CHRISTIAN? but never operated under this
name.

HIS was one of the four sister ships constructed for the War Depart.

ment for carrying troops. She was renamed in honor of Major General
Fred Crayton Ainsworth and accepted from the builders at Pascagoula on
4 June 1943,

The ship went to New Orleans, and left there in early June, arriving
at San Francisco 16 days later. She made one trip to Honolulu in July be-
fore leaving San Francisco for Brisbane, Townsville, Milne Bay and Gili
Gili. She was operated locally in the Southwest Pacific until returning to
San Francisco in February 1944.

After less than two weeks stay, the vessel went from her home port to
Honolulu, Milne Bay, Brisbane, Espiritu Santo, and Noumea. She re-
turned to San Francisco in late July 1944 and left in August for Honolulu,
Eniwetok, Saipan, and Guam. After return to San Francisco in Novem-
ber the AINSWORTH went to Seattle, from where she again visited
Hawaii, Eniwetok, and Guam. She returned to San Francisco from this
cruise and left in late February 1945 for Espiritu Santo, Guadalcanal,
Noumea, Brisbane, Biak, and Leyte.

The AINSWORTH returned to San Francisco in May and departed
in June (via the Panama Canal) for Marseilles, France, for redeploying
troops to the Pacific directly from the European Theatre of Operations.
She transited the Canal and proceeded to Eniwetok and Okinawa. Upon
return to San Francisco from this voyage in October the vessel made a
brief visit to Seattle before going to Honolulu, Saipan and Nagoya. She
left Nagoya in December and went to Tacoma, Washington. After re-
pairs at Seattle she left in February 1946 for San Francisco where she was
altered for carrying 426 military dependents and 687 troops.

After these changes the FRED C. AINSWORTH left in late March
1946 for Honolulu, Auckland and Sydney. The vessel is expected to be
engaged in this service until at least July 1946.
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FREDERICK FUNSTON

Length, overall 492" 3” Gross tons ... 11,971 Propulsion ... Turbine
Beam .. 69" 6" Speed (knots) .. 16Y Passengers ... 2,427
Draft .. 24" 6” Radius (miles) . 12,716 Cargo (cu. ft.)_.. 90,000

Built in 1942 by Seattle-Tacoma Shipbuilding Corp., Tacoma, W ash.

HE FREDERICK FUNSTON was built on Maritime Commission

contract for War Department account. The ship was constructed from
a special design prepared by the firm of Gibbs and Cox to meet require-
ments of the War Department. She was delivered to the Army at Seattle
on 28 October 1942, being named in honor of Major General Frederick
Funston.

The FUNSTON went from Seattle to San Francisco, from where she
sailed in mid-December, via Honolulu, for Guadalcanal. She also visited
Espiritu Santo before returning home. From San Francsco again in Feb-
ruary 1943, she went to Brisbane, Australia. From Brisbane the ship
sailed, via the Panama Canal, to New York, arriving there in early April.

At New York the FUNSTON was transferred to the Navy on 8 April
1943 to become an “attack transport” (APA 89). She went to Norfolk
and was in operation in the Atlantic (with trips to Oran, Naples, Belfast,
the Clyde, etc.) until she returned to New York on 30 December 1944. In
February 1945 she went, via Norfolk, to Panama, thence to Pearl Harbor,
arriving in March. From then until July, she was locally operated by
the Navy.

The FUNSTON left Honolulu on 9 July 1945 and went to Eniwetok
and Guam before returning to San Francisco. She sailed from the latter
port for Manila in September and returned to Los Angeles on 31 October,
and then made a trip to Manus Island and returned to San Francisco in
December. Her next voyage took her to Guam, the Marianas and Saipan.

The FREDERICK FUNSTON returned: to Los Angeles, and from
there went to San Francisco, where she was redelivered to the Army in
early April 1946. At present (June 1946) crew quarters on the vessel are
being altered for accommodating War Department peacetime civilian crew.

27



FREDERICK LYKES

Length, overall 492" 0" Gross tons ... 7,773 Propulsion . Turbine
Beam __. .. 69 6" Speed (knots) _... 17 Passengers ... 2,824
Draft . 28 0" Radius (miles) . 12,300 Cargo (cu. ft.).__. 52,000

Built in 1940 by Federal Shipbuilding & Drydock Co., Kearny, N. J.
Former name: SEA HOUND
Operated by Lykes Bros. Steamship Co., before acquisition by the War Department.

FTER circumnavigating Africa counterclockwise in 1942 and then
making a few Atlantic crossings as a freighter to England and Oran,
the FREDERICK LYKES was bareboat chartered on 1 July 1943 to the

War Department for conversion to a troopship.

Upon completion of conversion work by Todd Shipyards at New York
in early November, she sailed to Europe and returned to New York via
Boston. The vessel continued in service between New York and the United
Kingdom until sailing from Naples in June 1944 for New Otleans.

Before proceeding to the Pacific (via the Panama Canal) she stopped
at Galveston (for repairs by Todd-Galveston Dry Docks, Inc.), Key West
and Guantanamo. The vessel sailed from Panama in early August for
Finschhafen, Lae and Langemak. She returned to San Francisco in Sep-
tember and then went to Seattle for repairs and alterations by Todd Ship-
yards to prepare the vessel for a high priority mission to Honolulu, Eniwe-
tok and Guam.

The ship returned in December 1944 to San Francisco, where she un-
derwent major repairs before leaving in February 1945 for Noumea,
Espiritu Santo, Guadalcanal, Hollandia, Leyte, Townsville and Biak. She
returned to San Francisco from this voyage but after a brief stay in port
sailed in June, via the Panama Canal for UK and Le Havre, France.
Returning to Boston, she went from there to Marseilles and returned to

New York.

After a trip from New York to Casablanca and one from Hampton
Roads to Marseilles in late 1945, the FREDERICK LYKES was declared
surplus to the needs of the War Department and was redelivered to the
War Shipping Administration on 13 February 1946 at Norfolk, Va., and
on the same date transferred by the WSA to Lykes Bros. Steamship Co.
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GENERAL W. C. GORGAS

Length, overall 386" 0" Gross tons ... 4,636 Propulsion.... Recip. eng.
Beam . 0" Speed (knots) ... 10 Passengers ... 736
4" Radius (miles) .. 8,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)__ 152,209

Built in 1902 by “Neptune” Aktien-Geseﬂschaft, Schiffswerft & Maschinenfabrik,
Rostock, Germany

Former name: PRINS SIGISMUND
Operated prior to World War II by Libby, McNeill & Libby.

HIS former German-owned vessel was seized in World War I and

renamed in 1918 in honor of General William C. Gorgas, who as As-
sistant Surgeon General was largely responsible for the sanitary measures
that made possible successful completion of the Panama Canal.

Following World War I the GORGAS was in private commercial op-
eration until time-chartered to the War Department in November 1941.
She was immediately placed in the Seattle-Alaska run, being later placed
on bareboat charter. _

In late 1942 and early 1943 the vessel was rehabilitated and altered at
Seattle by Lake Washington Shipyards to increase the troop capacity. The
ship continued to make trips to such Alaskan ports as Yakutat, Icy Strait,
Ketchikan, Seward, Kodiak, Cold Bay, Juneau, Anchorage and Dutch
Harbor—returning periodically to Seattle for repairs.

The GENERAL W. C. GORGAS was redelivered to the War Shipping

Administration at Seattle in January 1945, and was transferred by them to
Soviet Russia. She was then renamed *MIKHAIL LOMONOSOV.”
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GEORGE S. SIMONDS

Length, overall ..525" 8" Gross tons ........ 8,358 Propulsion Turbines (3)
- 0" Speed (knots) ... 15 Passengers ... 1,803
6" Radius (miles) . 5,550 Cargo (cu. ft.).... 37,446

Built in 1915 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.
Former names: GREAT NORTHERN, COLUMBIA, H. F. ALEXANDER
Operated prior to World War Il by Canadian Pacific Steamship Lines, Lid.

HIS vessel then known as the GREAT NORTHERN made an envia-

ble record in World War I, having completed 18 trips to France.
Following subsequent commercial operation for 20 years, as the H. F.
ALEXANDER, she was briefly owned by the British. The ship went from
San Francisco to Boston and there was purchased on 26 July 1942 (through
the British Ministry of War Transport) by the War Shipping Administra-
tion and bareboat chartered to the Army.

At Boston the ship underwent rehabilitation and alteration for in-
creased troop lift, by Bethlehem Steel Co. from August to November 1942.
She was renamed in honor of Major General George S. Simonds.

The SIMONDS then went to New York for drydocking and minor
alterations, leaving in February 1943 on the first of two voyages to Oran
and return. In April she sailed to Gibraltar, the Clyde, Freetown, Cape-
town, Port Elizabeth, Durban, Dakar and Casablanca. She returned to
New York in August. In September she went to Halifax and return. At
New York between September and December 1943 the vessel underwent
major repairs by Todd-Erie Basin.

The SIMONDS went to Boston on Christmas Day and left a few days
later for the United Kingdom, returning to New York in early February
1944, After a visit to Argentia (Nfld.), she sailed to the Clyde and again
(via Boston) to the Mersey. Between late May and mid-July she was re-
tained for local operation in UK. She returned from Belfast to New York
on 28 July 1944,

In August the ship was loaned to the WSA to transport Jamaican
laborers between Kingston and Hampton Roads. She continued in this
service, with stops at Barbadoes and San Juan, for the remainder of the
year and all of 1945 (except for extensive repairs during the summer of
1945). On 5 March 1946 the GEORGE S. SIMONDS was redelivered to
the War Shipping Administration at Lee Hall, Va. (James River laid-up
fleet).
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GEORGE W. GOETHALS

Length, overall 489" 0" Gross tons . 12,093 Propulsion ... Turbine
Beam ... . 69" 67 Speed (knots) . 16V Passengers .. 1,976
Drafe 27 4”7 Radius (miles) . 13,000 Cargo (cu. ft.).._ 167,081

Built in 1942 by Ingalls Shipbuilding Corp., Pascagoula, Miss.
Originally assigned the name “PASCAGOULA” but never operated under that name.

HE GEORGE W. GOETHALS was one of the four similar vessels

constructed as troopships by the builder. She was named in honor of
Major General George Washington Goethals, who successfully engineered
construction of the Panama Canal.

Following delivery to the Army at Pascagoula on 18 September 1942,
the GOETHALS went to New Orleans, Key West and the Canal Zone
and returned via Hampton Roads to her assigned home port, New York,
in November.

At New York between December 1942 and early March 1943 the ship
underwent modification and improvement by the Bethlehem Steel Co. The
GOETHALS left New York in March 1943 for Oran and Gibraltar. In
April she sailed from New York to Oran, the United Kingdom, Freetown
and Capetown. In August the ship made a similar trip, returning to Bos-
ton in late September. After several weeks repairs by Bethlehem Steel Co.
at Boston she proceeded in November 1943 to UK and continued in this
run until the end of 1944. ,

While en route from Boston to France again in late January 1945 the
GOETHALS collided, without casualties, with the S§ WHITE FALCON
a day before reaching Le Havre. She returned via UK to New York in
March and soon left for another similar voyage to Europe, returning this
time to New Orleans and Mobile in May 1945. From New York in June
the vessel went to Southampton. She returned to Boston and from that
port made several voyages to England before returning to New York in
January 1946, where she was altered for carrying military dependents
(273 adults, 179 children). As of April 1946 the GEORGE W. GOE.-
THALS had completed three successivs trips in this service between New
York and Le Havre, '
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GEORGE WASHINGTON™

Length, overall _721" 9”7 Gross tons .. . 23,788 Propulsion_Recip.eng.(2)
0" Speed (knots) .. 16 Passengers ... 6,341
(144 Radius (miles) . 20,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)__.137,969

Built in 1908 by A. G. Vulcan, Stettin, Germany
Former names: CATLIN, GEORGE WASHINGTON*#*
Operated by War Shipping Administration before acquisition by the War Depart-
ment.

HIS was the former German liner GEORGE WASHINGTON of

the Hamburg-America Line, which was interned in World War I,
then seized on 6 April 1917 for use as a troopship which carried 100,000
troops to and from France. On the GEORGE WASHINGTON President
Wilson traveled to the Versailles Peace Conference; the King and Queen
of Belgium visited the United States; and 250 members of the American
Legion voyaged to France in 1921 as guests of the French Government.
Reconditioning in 1921 for transatlantic passenger service by the Shipping
Board (and later United States Lines) was by Tietjen & Lang (now
Todd-Hoboken). In 1931 the ship was laid up in the Patuxent River,
Md., but was taken from there in 1940 by the Navy and outfitted as the
troopship USS CATLIN.

As a coal burner capable of only eleven knots she proved unsatisfac-
tory for naval service and was returned to the Maritime Commission who
sold her to the British in 1941 as the GEORGE WASHINGTON. Still
unsatisfactory, she was again returned to the Maritime Commission and
Waterman SS. Co. operated her to Panama in May 1942. Next assigned
to the War Department, the ship was converted at Todd’s Brooklyn Yard
(WSA contract) from June 1942 to April 1943, New Babcock & Wilcox
oil-burning boilers were installed. After conversion, the ship first went to
Casablanca. In July 1943 she went from New York (via the Panama
Canal and Los Angeles) to Brisbane. In September she sailed from Los
Angeles to Bombay, India, and from there to Capetown, completing a
round-the-world voyage (via Trinidad and San Juan) at New York in
December 1943,

In January 1944 the GEORGE WASHINGTON began her present
regular service to the United Kingdom and the Mediterranean Theatre of
Operations, making many calls at Liverpool, Southampton and Le Havre.
At the European terminus of these voyages the ship was occasionally di-
verted to Oran, Marseilles and Cherbourg.

#See page 191 for description of another vessel having the same name.
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GEORGE WASHINGTON CARVER

Length, overall 441" 6" Gross tons ... 7,933 Propulsion_..._Recip. eng.
Speed (knots) . 10% Passengers 948
None

Radius (miles) .. 14,000 Cargo

Built in 1943 by Permanente Metals Corp. (Yard £ 1), Richmond, Cal.
Former name: DOGWOOD

Operated by American-South African Line, Inc., prior to acquisition by the War
Department.

HE transport GEORGE WASHINGTON CARVER was formerly a

Liberty freighter of the same name, which was converted to a hospital
ship and renamed DOGWOOD. A résumé of her operation in this ca-
pacity is shown on page 334.

Upon her return to San Francisco in early January 1946 the vessel
was. decommissioned as a hospital ship and reverted to her former name,
Alterations to fit her for carrying a combination load of troops and mili:
tary dependents were accomplished by the Marine Repair Shop at the San
Francisco Port of Embarkation. »

Following conversion, the CARVER was assigned to Seattle for oper-
ation. Her first voyage in her new duty took her to Dutch Harbor, Shem-
ya, Attu, Adak and Whittier, Alaska. She left Seattle again, in late March
1946, and went to Anchorge, Seward, Dutch Harbor, Adak, Amchitka,
Shemya, back to Adak, thence to her home port.

Continued assignment of the GEORGE WASHINGTON CARVER
to this work and area is indefinite.
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HENRY GIBBINS

Length, overall 489" 0" Gross tons ... 12,097 Propulsion ... Turbine

Beam ... ... 69" 6" Speed (knots) . 16% Passengers ... 1,948
Draft .. 27 47 Radius (miles) . 16,600 Cargo (cu. ft.)....150,000

Built in 1943 by Ingalls Shipbuilding Corp., Pascagoula, Miss.
Ovriginally assigned the name “BILOXI” but never operated under that name.

THE HENRY GIBBINS was one of the four Ingalls C-3 type vessels
designed and constructed as troopships. She was named in honor of
Major General Henry Gibbins, the late Quartermaster General, and was
delivered to the War Department on 27 February 1943,

The ship made one trip from New York to Oran and return in April,
then went through the Panama Canal to Bora Bora. She spent the month
of June between various Australian ports and then retraced her course to
New York, arriving there in early August.

After a voyage to Oran with return to Boston in September 1943, the
GIBBINS began several months’ uninterrupted service from New York to
the European Theatte of Operations, with many trips to Avonmouth,
Belfast and the Clyde, with one side trip to Palermo in October 1943.

Upon return from the last of these voyages in May 1944, the ship
alternated from New York and Norfolk to Naples, Cherbourg, Mar-
seilles, Gibraltar, Le Havre, and Southampton until August 1945-—averag-
ing approximately one trip a month. She was then operated from Boston,
from where she made four consecutive trips to Marseilles, completing the
last in December 1945.

At Boston from late January to mid-February 1946 the GIBBINS was
converted by the Gibbons Engine & Machine Company for carrying mili-
tary dependents (273 adults; 179 children). After a trip to Belfast in
this capacity the vessel was assigned to sail out of New York. As of April
1946 she had completed one round trip from there to Belfast.

The HENRY GIBBINS is not expected to remain in the Army’s
peacetime fleet.
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HUGH L. SCOTT*

Length, overall 535" 0” Gross tons ... 12,579 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
Beam ... 72" 0" Speed (knots) . 16% Passengers ... 2,470
Draft o 30" 6" Radius (miles)_ . 10,622 Cargo (cu. ft.).._ 174,340

Built in 1921 by Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp., Sparrows Point, Md.
Former names: HAWKEYE STATE, PRESIDENT PIERCE
Ovperated prior to World War 11 by American President Lines.

HE HUGH L. SCOTT was received from the owners by the War

Department on 31 July at San Francisco. The ship was renamed in
honor of Major General Hugh L. Scott, who as Chief of Staff, was Secre-
tary of War ad interim, February-March 1916.

The SCOTT went to Honolulu and return before proceeding, via
Hawaii, to Manila where she was redelivered to American President Lines
for a special mission for the State Department to Hong Kong and Shang-
hai. She returned from Manila to San Francisco in late October 1941,
The ship then made another trip to Manila, from which she returned to
her home port on Christmas Day 1941,

In the early part of 1942 the SCOTT made two voyages to Australia
before being ordered to the East Coast. She arrived at New York in July
1942, where she was outfitted for use as an “attack transport” operated
by the Navy.

The HUGH L. SCOTT participated in the history-making Allied in-
vasion of North Africa on 8 November 1942, but was sunk in port by

“enemy action in that campaign.

*See page 97 for description of another vessel having a similar name.
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HUNTER LIGGETT

Length, overall._535" 0" Gross tons ... 13,712 Propulsion. Turbines (2)
Beams oo 72’ o Speed (knots) _.. 16Y5 Passengers . 1,391
Draft . 30" 6" Redius (miles)... 11,700 Cargo (cu. ft.)_. 160,000

Built in 1922 by Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp., Ltd., Sparrows Point, Md.
Former name: PAN AMERICA

HIS vessel was received by the War Department from the Maritime

Commission at Bayonne, IN. J., in February 1939. She was initially
converted at New York by Robbins Dry Dock & Repair Co. and was re-
named in honor of Major General Hunter Liggett.

The HUNTER LIGGETT left New York in April 1939 via the Pan-
ama Canal for San Francisco. She made four such trips (including one
visit to Honolulu), then, in September, began operating from New York
to Cristobal and Chatleston. In January 1940, she returned again to the
West Coast, engaging in combined maneuvers off Monterey, California.
She went from San Francisco to Honolulu and back through the Canal
to New York in February. The LIGGETT remained in this East Coast-
West Coast-Honolulu run throughout 1940, except for undergoing further
conversion for increased troop capacity and extensive repairs during June
and July by Atlantic Basin Iron Works.

In 1941 the vessel continued in service from New York to the West
Coast and Honolulu, with occasional stops at Charleston, San Juan,
Bostonn or Trinidad. At New York in early June 1941 she was delivered
to the Navy and was then called the “USS HUNTER LIGGETT” (AP
27; later APA 14). While in naval service she operated in both the At-
lantic and the Pacific.

The HUNTER LIGGETT was redelivered by the Navy to the Army
at Seattle on 18 March 1946. The ship is not to continue in the Army’s
peacetime transport fleet.
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IMPERIAL

Length, overall __ 440’ 6" Gross tons ... 7,279 Propulsion ... Diesel
. 58 0" Speed (knots) __ 16 Passengers .. 1,681
.23 8" Radius (miles) . 15,950 Cargo (cu. ft.)... 60,400

Built in 1938 by Nakskov Skibs A/S, Nakskov, Denmark.

Operated prior to World War Il by Compania Sud Americana de Vapores,
Valparaiso, Chile.

HE IMPERIAL was a Chilean vessel that had been in operation in the

interest of the United Nations between South America, Cuba and
New Orleans prior to purchasing by the War Shipping Administration
and bareboat chartering to the Army on 30 August 1943.

The ship went to Baltimore, Md., where conversion was accomplished
by the Key Highway Plant of Bethlehem Steel Co. between September
1943 and late April of the following year. After a brief stop at New
York, following the vessel’s trial run, she passed through the Panama
Canal and proceeded directly to Noumea and Milne Bay, arriving there
in June 1944,

In late July 1944 the IMPERIAL reached Seattle, her assigned home

port, from where she began a series of monthly voyages to Honolulu,

Immediately following V-] Day the vessel left on a trip to Guam,
Saipan, Leyte and Taloma. Upon return to San Francisco in December
1945 she was held pending further assignment. Inasmuch as the demand
for troopships had been materially reduced, the IMPERIAL was redeliv.
ered to the War Shipping Administration at Suisum Bay, California on
31 January 1946 for lay-up in the Reserve Fleet.
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J. W. McANDREW

Length, overall .. 491" 10" Gross tons . 7,997 Propulsion ... __ Turbine
Beam Speed (knots) .. 16 Passengers ... 1,891
Draft ... 25" 8" Radius (miles)__ 11,000 Cargo (cu. ft) 150,885

Built in 1940 by Bethlehem Steel Co., Sparrows Point, Md.
Former name: DELTARGENTINO
Operated by Mississippi Shipping Co. before acquisition by the War Department.

HIS vessel was acquired by the Army at New Orleans on 28 June 1941
and renamed the J. W. McANDREW in honor of Major General
James William McAndrew. After hasty conversion, she made four suc-
cessive voyages from New Orleans to Cristobal before being assigned to
New York as her home port in November 1941. From there she made a
cruise to Puerto Rico, Jamaica, Canal Zone, Trinidad and New Orleans.

In late January 1942 the ship left New York, transited the Panama
Canal, and proceeded to Australia. She returned home in early April
and next left New York in May for Iceland and Glasgow, Scotland. From
the latter port, she went to Capetown, returning to New York in August.

The McANDREW next participated in the invasion of North Africa in
November 1942, The vessel left Casablanca late that month for New York,
from where she regularly made many trips to Europe and Africa, the prin-
cipal ports of call being Oran, Casablanca, Algiers, Gibraltar, Belfast, the
Clyde, Naples, Cherbourg, Le Havre, Plymouth and Southampton. This
service was interrupted only by major voyage repairs by Todd-Brooklyn
during May and June 1944, While en route to Europe in convoy in March
1945 the McANDREW was in collision with the French aircraft carrier
BEARN, and put in at Ponta Delgada, Azores Is., for repairs by Oficinas
de Peparagoes Maritimas under Navy supervision.

Between- April and June 1945 the ship underwent hull repairs at
Bethlehem-Key Highway Plant in Baltimore. She left the Hampton Roads
Port of Embarkation for Naples in July. Following return to Baltimore
the vessel made several miscellaneous voyages, such as Hampton Roads
to Marseilles, Newport News to Naples and New York to Le Havre. As of
June 1946 the J. W. McANDREW was still operating from New York
to ETO.
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JAMES O’HARA

Length, overall 492" 3" Gross tons ... 11,969 Propulsion ... Turbine

Beam __
Draft ..

. 69 6" Speed (knots) ... 16V, Passengers _____ . 2,427
24 6" Radius (miles)___ 11,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)'_ 90,376

Built in 1942 by Seattle-Tacoma Shipbuilding Corp., Seattle, Wash.

HE JAMES O’HARA was a sister ship of the FREDERICK FUN.

STON~—a C.3 type vessel especially designed as an Army transport.
Although constructed on Maritime Commission contract, reimbursement
was made by the War Department. The O’'HARA was named in honor
of Brigadier General James O’Hara, who served in the Revolutionary
War, The ship was delivered at Todd’s Seattle-Tacoma Shipyard on 30
November 1942.

After going from Seattle to San Francisco, the O’HARA went to
Sydney and Brisbane, Australia, from where she sailed, via the Panama
Canal to New York, arriving in April 1943. The ship was delivered to
the Navy at New York on 15 April 1943 and became known as the USS
JAMES O’HARA (APA 90), an attack transport.

Leaving New Yotk, the vessel touched at Norfolk a few days, then
left in early June for Oran, Naples, Belfast and the Clyde, being locally
operated in the Mediterranean for a few months. She returned to New
York in December 1943, then went through the Panama Canal to Hono-
lulu and the Southwest Pacific. The ship was at Manus Island, Leyte,
Ulithi and Guam befoe engaging in combat operations in February and
March 1945.

In March the O’HARA went from Guam to Tulagi, Espiritu Santo,
Noumea, Manus, Finschhafen, Hollandia, Manila, Leyte and Cebu before
returning to San Francisco in August. Following V.J Day the vessel made
a voyage to Manila, Saipan and Tinian, returning to San Francisco in
November. Her next trip was to Saipan, with return to Los Angeles in
February 1946,

The JAMES O’HARA sailed from Los Angeles to San Francisco,
where on 5 April 1946, the vessel was redelivered by the Navy to the
Army. As of early May 1946 the ship was in repair status at the Bethle-
hem Steel Co., San Francisco.
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JAMES PARKER

Length, overall 493 6" Gross tons ... 10,021 Propulsion Turbines (2)
Beam . 64 0’ Speed (knots) _.__ 17 Passengers ... 2,324
Draft ... R 26" 3”7 Radius (miles) . 13,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)._ 76,251

Built in 1939 by Bethlehem Steel Co.. Quincy, Mass.
Former name: PANAMA
Operated prior to World War II by Panama Railroad Co.

HIS vessel, as the SS PANAMA, was transferred from control of the

Panama Railroad Company to the Army Transport Service on 13
June 1941 at New York. Without alteration she made a trip from New
York to Bermuda and the Canal Zone in June. After a trip to Cristobal
and return in July, she went again to Bermuda and the Canal Zone, still
under the name PANAMA before undetgoing hasty conversion by the At-
lantic Basin Iron Works at New York in August. She was then renamed
the JAMES PARKER, in honor of Brigadier General James Parker, Class
of 1876, U. S. Military Academy.

From New Orleans the PARKER made numerous vovages to Cristobal,
with one stop at Trinidad in November 1941, and in December went to
New York from where a similar trip to the Caribbean was made in early
1942. In March 1942 the vessel left New York and went through the
Panama Canal to Bora Bora Island and Australian and New Zealand

" ports. She returned to Charleston from where she voyaged to Recife and
Ascension Island. Again from Charleston the ship visited Recife and
Ascension Island, but continued on to Pointe Noire, French Equatorial
Africa. She also touched at Capetown and Freetown before returning to
Charleston in September.

The PARKER then went to New Orleans, thence to Guantanamo,
Cristobal and New York. In December 1942 she left on the first of
many trips to the European and North African Theatres of Operation
during the next three years, the principal ports visited being Oran, Casa-
blanca, Dakar, Freetown, Takoradi, Liverpool, Palermo, Belfast, the
Clyde and Avonmouth. In early 1944 the ship touched at Boston and
Norfolk, but continued in the above mentioned Atlantic service out of
New York until the end of 1945. In January 1946 the JAMES PARKER
was converted by the Bethlehem Steel Co. (56th St. Yard) for carrying
military dependents. She operated from New York to Cristobal, Belfast
and Southampton in this service until 15 May 1946 when she was rede-
livered to the Panama Ralroad Company, at New York,
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JARRETT M. HUDDLESTON

Length, overall _ 441" 6" Gross tons . 7,933 Propulsion __ Recip, eng.
Beam .. 56’ 10" Speed (knots) .. 10Y5 Passengers .. 476
Draft 24" o Radius (miles) __ 14,000 Cargo ... None

Built in 1942 by Permanente Metals Corp. (Yard # 2}, Richmond, Cal.
Former names: SAMUEL F. B. MORSE, (YUCCA4)
Operated by Moore-McCormack Lines, Inc., prior to acquisition by War Department.

HIS was the Liberty type freighter SAMUEL F. B. MORSE which

was transferred to the War Department on 22 November 1943 for use
as a mercy ship. This conversion to a hospital ship was effected at the
yard of Brewer Drydock Co., at New York between November 1943 and
August 1944. For details of the vessel’s service in this capacity, see page
339.

Upon her discontinuance as a hospital ship in December 1945, the
JARRETT M. HUDDLESTON was altered at New York for use as a
dependent-carrying transport, her new capacity being 326 women and 150

children.
Although the name JARRETT M. HUDDLESTON was that selected

for the vessel as a hospital ship, the name was not changed after decom-
missioning inasmuch as another similar vessel constructed in the mean-

time had been designated SAMUEL F. B. MORSE, the HUDDLESTON’S
former name,

In transporting military dependents, the ship operated between New
York and European ports. As of May 1946 the vessel had made three
trips; one to Cherbourg, Le Havre and Southampton; one to Bremer-
haven, Germany; and one to Southampton, England.

Assignment of the JARRETT M. HUDDLESTON to this duty is

temporary. Disposal of the ship as surplus is expected soon after 30
June 1946.
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JOHN L. CLEM

Length, overall 373" 6" Gross tons ... 5,211 Propulsion_..._Recip, eng.
Beam . s 51" 6" Speed (knots) ... 12 Passengers __ 1,276
Draft __ .23 0" Radius (miles)_... 12,800 Cargo (cu. ft.).__ 34,475

Built in 1918 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.
Rebuilt in 1936 by Maryland Drydock Co., Baltimore, Md.

Former names: SANTA ANA, GUATEMALA, SANTA CECILIA, IRWIN
Operated prior to World War II by Merchants & Miners Transportation Co.

HIS vessel as the IRWIN was purchased by the Army in March 1941.

She made one voyage from New York to San Juan before undergoing
conversion by Robins Drydock & Repair Co. at New York between April
and June. Her new troopship designation, JOHN L. CLEM, was in honor
of Major General John Lincoln Clem.

Following conversion the CLEM began operating between New York,
Chatleston and Panama (with a few stops at New Orleans and Trinidad).
She operated in this service regularly until June 1942, at which time she
was assigned to “interisland” service. In this capacity the vessel served
between New Orleans and the following places until September 1943:
Port of Spain, Santa Lucia, Guantanamo, San Juan, Cristobal and Key
West.

In September 1943 the CLEM was chosen for a hospital ship and went
to Mobile, Alabama, where conversion was accomplished by Alabama Dry-
dock & Shipbuilding Co. For particulars of the vessel’s movements in
this capacity see page 341,

In September 1943 the decision was reached to decommission the
vessel as a ship of mercy and make her into a troopship. She was hastily
altered and upon request of the War Shipping Administration was utilized
for carrying Jamaican laborers between Kingston and Port Everglades. The
CLEM continued on this assignment until January 1946, when after a final
trip to Nassau, Bahamas she arrived at Hampton Roads for delivery to the
War Shipping Administration as surplus to Army needs.

The JOHN L. CLEM was surveyed in April 1946 for possible use by
the Public Health Service and was later assigned to that agency.
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JOSEPH T. DICKMAN

Length, overall 535 0" Gross Tons ... 13,869 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
Beam ... ... 72 0" Speed (knots) . 16V Passengers ... 1,194
Draft . 30 7 Radius (miles).... 11,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)..296,000

Built in 1922 by New York Shipbuilding Corp., Camden, New Jersey
Former names: PENINSULA STATE, PRESIDENT ROOSEVELT
Operated prior to World War II by United States Lines Co.

PON the return of the SS PRESIDENT ROOSEVELT to New York

from Bermuda in October 1940, the ship was purchased from the
owners by the War Department. She was placed out of commission while
specifications were prepared for conversion to a troopship. Conversion was
done by Atlantic Basin Iron Works between February and June 1941.
The ship was renamed JOSEPH T. DICKMAN in honor of the late
Major General Joseph Theodore Dickman, :

Immediately upon completion of conversion of the ship, she was trans-
ferred to the Navy and became the “USS JOSEPH T. DICKMAN” (AP
26; later APA 13). For some time the ship engaged in Joint Army and
Navy Exercises on the East Coast and throughout World War II was in
Naval service. ‘

In early 1942 the DICKMAN went from New York to Bahia; and in
June to Bermuda. In early 1943 she went via the Panama Canal to
Noumea and Brisbane. In May she went to Oran and Arzew (North
Africa). From there the ship went to Naples and Belfast before return-
ing to Norfolk in January 1944 and to New York in February. After
another voyage to Glasgow, Bristol, Oran and other ports in ETQ, the
ship returned to Boston from where she sailed to San Francisco.

From San Francisco the JOSEPH T. DICKMAN made two trips to
Honolulu and return before leaving again, in August 1945, for Leyte
and Manila. She returned, via Honolulu to San Francisco, where steps
were taken in early 1946 to decommission her for redelivery to the Army.
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% S

LEONARD WOOD

Length, overall__535 0" Gross tons ... 13,712 Propulsion. Turbines (2)
Beam .. 72" 0" Speed (knots) .  16% Passengers ... 1,419
Draft .. 30" 6" Radius (miles) .. 11,700 Cargo (cu. ft.)... 190,430

Built in 1922 by Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp., Sparrows Point, Md.
Former names: NUTMEG STATE, WESTERN WORLD
In operation by the War Department prior to World War 1I.

T HIS vessel, as the WESTERN WORLD, was purchased by the Army
in 1939, She was converted to a peacetime transport at New York and
was renamed in honor of renowned Major General Leonard Wood.

The WOOD first made a few trips from New York to Cristobal, but
in 1940 was placed in opetration between INew York and San Francisco.
She was in this service, with occasional stops at Charleston, one trip to
Alaska (in August 1940), a visit to San Juan (in April 1941), until June
1941 when she was transferred to Navy jurisdiction and was called the
USS LEONARD WOOD (AP 25; later APA 12).

The WOOD was operated by the Navy in both the Atlantic and
Pacific. In February 1942 she was at Capetown, Africa in company with
two other Army-owned, Navy-crewed transports—the JOSEPH T. DICK-
MAN and the ORIZABA. She went from there to Bahia (Brazil), thence
to Trinidad and New York, where she arrived in late February.

The LEONARD WOOD participated in the invasion of North Africa
in early November 1942 and returned from there to Norfolk.

Again from Norfolk in May 1943, the ship made a trip to Oran before
transiting the Panama Canal in August and going to San Diego and San
Francisco. From there, she went to Honolulu and was locally operated
westward until June 1945 when she returned to San Francisco. Between
then and December the ship made three voyages to the Western Pacific—
the first to Ulithi, Eniwetok and Manila; the second to Eniwetok and
various points in the Philippines; the third to Yokohama. At Seattle on
22 March 1946 the LEONARD WOOD was redelivered by the Navy to
the Army, and was there laid up pending transfer to the War Shipping
Administration as surplus,
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MAUI

Length, overall 501" 0" Gross tons 9,940 Propulsion. Turbines (2)
Beam .. 58 0" Speed (knots) . 14V, Passengers .. 1,650
Draft . 30 7 Radius (miles) . 13,500 Cargo (cu. ft.).._ 158,170

Built in 1917 by Union Iron Works, San Fra:icisca, Calif.
Operated prior to World War II by Matson Navigation Co.

HE MAUI was purchased for War Department account on 2 Decem-

ber 1941 at San Francisco and was quickly adapted for Army use in the
Pacific. Conversion by Bethlehem Steel Co. was completed on 27 Decem-
ber 1941 and on that date the vessel left on a voyage to Honolulu, re-
turning to San Francisco in late January 1942,

, In March the MAUI made a round trip from San Francisco to Bris-
bane, Australia. This was followed by two voyages to Honolulu and one
to Cold Bay, Alaska before undergoing extensive repairs and alterations
during July and August. . In September the ship sailed from San Francisco
for another voyage to Hawaii and then one to' Noumea, Rarotonga, New
Zealand and the Fiji Islnds, returning home in December 1942,

In January 1943 the ship went to Lahaina Roads, Hawaii and then
underwent repairs at San Francisco in February and March 1943. Fol-
lowing this the MAUI was continuously operated to the Southwest Pacific
until May 1944, having completed seven voyages there. Destinations in-
cluded: Brisbane, Townsville, Noumea, Espiritu Santo, Guadalcanal,
Auckland, Bora Botra, Milne Bay, Oro Bay and Finschhafen.

In June 1944 the ship went from San Francisco to Seattle, and from
there to Honolulu, thence to the following before returning home: Funa-
futi, Langemak, Hollandia, Wake Is.,, Humboldt Bay, Milne Bay, Oro
Bay and Auckland. After major repairs at San Francisco in late 1944,
the MAUI left in mid-December for Finschhafen, Biak, Woendi, Hol-
landia, Leyte, Manila, Australian ports, Batangas, Noumea, Oki-
nawa, etc., before returning to San Francisco in late October 1945. After
a month in repair, the vessel went to Okinawa and Sasebo (the famous
“closed-to-foreigners” Japanese naval base on Kyushu Island). The
MAUI returned to Seattle in January 1946 and in April was declared
excess to the needs of the War Department.
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MONTEREY™

Length, overall 404" 57 Gross tons ... 5,236 Propulsion _...____Turbine
Beam 6" Speed (knots) ... 17 Passengers ... 1,055
Draft 7" Radius (miles)_.. 7,000 Cargo (cu. ft.)___ 50,310

Built in 1932 by Newport News Shipbuilding & Drydock Co., Newport News, Va.
Former names: HAITI, PUERTO RICO

Ovperated prior to World War II by New York & Cuba Mail Steamship Co.

HE MONTEREY was bareboat chartered from the owners in Febru-

ary 1942. Hasty conversion to an Army troopship took place at
Robins Drydock & Repair Co. at New York. Upon completion of altera-
tions the ship left in March 1942 for a trip around South Africa (with
stops at Capetown and Port Elizabeth) to Basra, Abadan, Massaua, Bom-
bay and Cochin (India). She returned via Capetown to New York on 31
July 1942, '

The MONTEREY assisted in the invasion of North Africa in Novem-
ber and returned from Casablanca to New York in December 1942, In
January 1943, the vessel was bareboat chartered to the War Depattment
by the War Shipping Administration. '

After undergoing a month’s voyage repairs and minor alterations, the
MONTEREY left New York in February on a cruise to the following
ports: Guantanamo, Trinidad, Belem, Recife, Natal (Brazil), Ascension
Island, Takoradi, Freetown, Dakar, Dominica, and San Juan, returning
to New York in late June 1943. The ship then went to New Orleans from
where, in August, she began operating to various bases in the Caribbean
and to Brazilian ports and Ascension Island. She continued in this service
throughout the remainder of 1943, all of 1944 (except for repairs by
Todd-Galveston in May and June) and through June 1945.

On 30 June 1945 the MONTEREY went from Norfolk to Gibraltar
and Port Said, Egypt. She returned via Naples and Leghorn, Italy in
August, and again resumed service in the Caribbean (principally from
New Orleans to Panama and Puerto Rico). This assignment continued
until February 1946. The MONTEREY collided with a tanker of the
Standard Oil Company in the Mississippi River and after repairing
minor damage at New Otrleans, went to New York, where on 20 March
1946 the vessel was redelivered to the War Shipping Administration.

#See page 226 for description of another vessel having the same name.
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ORIZABA

Length, overall .. 443" 3” Gross tons ... 6,937 Propulsion_Turbines (2)
; 0" Speed (knots) .. 16 Passengers ... 1,578
4" Radius (miles)_ .. 6,200 Cargo (cu. ft.).. 35,455

Built in 1918 by Wm. Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Co., Philadelphia, Pa.
Operated prior to World War 11 by New York & Cuba Mail Steamship Co.

HE ORIZABA was another vessel that served as a troopship in World

War I. She was purchased by the War Department in early 1941 and
made one trip to the Canal Zone before undergoing conversion for Army
use by Bethlehem Steel Company at New Yotk from early April until
late May. In June 1941 the ship was transferred to the Navy and was
designated the USS ORIZABA (AP 24). After several months’ local
operation by the Navy the ORIZABA left New York in April 1942 and
went, via Iceland, to England. From there she went to Capetown, thence
via Recife, to Norfolk from where a trip was made to Bermuda and
Puerto Rico. '

In January 1943 the ship returned to Norfolk, then went to Boston
and New York. After a trip to St. John’s in February, she made three
voyages to Oran (with one stop at Casablanca). She returned to New
York late in August. In December 1943 the ORIZABA sailed from
Charleston, via the Panama Canal, to' the Southwest Pacific and remained
there four months. Ports visited include: Samoa, Bora Bora, Noumea,
Brisbane, Gladstone, Milne Bay and Goodenough Island.

Following return to San Francisco in late March 1944 the ship soon
left, via San Diego, for Tutuila, Noumea, Auckland and Bora Bora. She
returned in June for six weeks’ repairs at San Francisco, and next made a
trip to Eniwetok, Saipan and Honolulu. After another visit to Hawaii
the vessel was assigned to Seattle for a trip to Adak, Amchitka and Attu.

Returning to Seattle on 1 December 1944 the ORIZABA made an-
other trip to Honolulu, then (from San Francisco) a voyage to Hollandia,
Leyte and Ulithi. She departed from the latter in March 1945, transited
the Panama Canal, and arrived at Tampa, Florida in April. The ORI-
ZABA. was subsequently sold to the Brazilian Government and was re-
named DUQUE DE CAXIAS.
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OTSEGO

Length, overall 385" 0" Gross tons ... 4,638 Propulsion..____Recip. eng.
45" 1”7 Speed (knots) .. 10Y% Passengers __ 793
.23 0" Radius (miles).... 6,200 Cargo {cu. ft.).. 148,850

Built in 1902 by Reiherstieg Schiffswerke, Hamburg, Germany
Former name: PRINZ EITEL FREDERICH
Operated prior to World War 11 by Libby, McNeill & Libby.

HE OTSEGO was delivered to the Army on time charter at Seattle

on 4 December 1941. Later, however, she was placed on sub-bareboat
charter.

The vessel at once began an arduous four years of operation from
Seattle to a great many Alaskan ports, some of which wete: Seward,
Ketchikan, Dutch Harbor, Kodiak, Womens Bay, Annette Is., Yakutat,
Valdez, Cordova, Juneau, Skagway, Whittier, Unimak, and Chernofski.

From April to July 1942 the ship underwent extensive rehabilitation
at Seattle.

The OTSEGO made 31 voyages from her home port, Seattle, before
being redelivered to the War Shipping Administration on 9 December
1944,

In January 1945 the OTSEGO was transferred to Russum ownership
and renamed the URAL.
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PRESIDENT BUCHANAN

Length, overall ..522" 0" Gross tons ... 11,992 Propulsion Recip.eng.(2)
Beam ... 62" 0" Speed (knots) . 13 Passengers ... 1,241
Draft ... 270 2" Radius (miles).... 11,850 Cargo (cu. ft.)_.. 19,660

Built in 1920 by New York Shipbuilding Corp., Camden, N. J.

Former names: PANHANDLE STATE, PRESIDENT MONROE, PRESIDENT
BUCHANAN, (IRIS), EMILY H. M. WEDER

Operated prior to World War Il by Dollar Steamship Lines

HE PRESIDENT BUCHANAN was an allocated passenger and

cargo ship, with a passenger capacity of approximately 100, and was
so operated under the direction of the War Shipping Administration prior
to transfer to the War Department.

Inasmuch as the BUCHANAN was not a bona fide troopship while
under WSA jurisdiction, she is not listed elsewhere as a troopship. How-
ever, in the latter part of 1942 she did make a voyage to the Persian
Gulf with Army passengers and in 1943 made two trips to the United
Kingdom with no change in living accommodations.

Following return from UK in October 1943, the vessel was delivered
to the Army at New York and conversion to a hospital ship took place
at Atlantic Basin Iron Works between November 1943 and July 1944,
For a record of her service in this capacity under the name EMILY H.
M. WEDER, see page 335.

While the vessel was at Los Angeles in late November 1945 it was
decided to decommission her as a hospital ship and use her as a combina-
tion vessel to carry military dependents and troops. Accordingly, recon-
version 